NPRN: 405539 TROED-Y-RHIW UCHA, STRATA FLORIDA; TROED-Y-RHIW UCHAF; PEN Y LAN (SN 76577 66046).
The farmstead known as Troed-y-rhiw Ucha (upper or outer slope foot) first makes an appearance in documents during the 17th century when it was part of the extensive Crosswood (Trawsgoed) Estate, associated with the Vaughan family (later Earls of Lisburne) (National Library Wales (NLW: CW1, 398).  At the time of a 1766 survey of the Estate the farmstead was still in use and described as ‘House and Gardens’; by the time of the 1843 tithe it was no longer noted as occupied, but depicted on the tithe map, and thus seems likely to have been used as additional housing and storage by the farm of Troed-y-rhiw Issa (NPRN: 405540), the main tenant farm of the area.  Documents do however indicate that this farmstead was in existence at the time of the dissolution (1539) when it formed part of the grange of ‘Pennardd’, associated with the Cistercian Abbey of Strata Florida.  Following dissolution the grange passed to the Devereux family, later to become the Earls of Essex and at this point rent rolls record that the farmstead was known as Pen y lan (top of the bank), which would have been a highly appropriate due to it being situated upon an the early ‘top wall’ (NPRN: 405952) (NLW: CW 75, 139a).

The farmstead is first depicted on the 1766 map of the Crosswood Estate (NLW: CW IV.9 volume II, map 4).  Here it utilises the later ffridd wall (NPRN: 405565) as its east boundary and comprises one building closely associated with three enclosures, together with a second building to the north.  This arrangement can be traced on the ground, as can a series of other features, providing clear chronological depth.  The main building was constructed on a platform deeply dug into the hillslope.  The structure itself has been heavily robbed; measuring 22m by 7m and appears to have been divided into three compartments, of which the two eastern units were enclosed, with the third and largest unit apparently open-sided and facing the interior of the farm; whether this was the original arrangement is unclear.  The entrance would have faced north-east into enclosure A, which is primary in terms of the constructional sequence.  Enclosure A evidently lost its integrity and original function at some stage, since its east wall is abraded and has been cut by one or two cultivation furrows, part of a zone of ploughing which lies just upslope.  The most distinctive feature of Enclosure A is its four entrances. Both entrance a and entrance b presuppose the existence of Enclosure B, directly to the south of the building; a because the offset walls are necessary for stock control, b because one side of the short hollow way which leads down to it was evidently defined by part of Enclosure B. Entrance c has its side-walls slightly offset, also suggesting livestock control. The function of Enclosure A evidently involved the management and batch-handling of sheep, whilst enclosure B, which has no clear entrance, may have functioned as the ‘garden’ listed on the 1766 survey. Within enclosure A lies another small enclosure (C), it was partly constructed with large stone blocks, and looks ‘early’ in the sense that it has been heavily abraded/robbed out. If enclosures A and B, plus the long building, are to be considered primary, or at least early, features of this farm, another possible primary feature is a constructed pond or water tank, not shown on the 1766 map, attached to the northern side of enclosure A.  The pond is rectangular in shape measuring 21m by 15m with a 1.5m high dam on its west side.  It was fed by a stream which has been canalised, running down from a spring off the hill to the west. There is a rectangular structure immediately north of the pond, depicted on the 1766 map but not on the tithe map of 1843. It sits at the base of the hill, which is cut back here, providing shelter. It measures 11m by 8m and appears to have been one unit, although additional space was available on its eastern side. There is no evidence for an entrance into the structure, although slight earthworks/hollowing leading up to it, and the available space around it, suggests that the entrance was most likely in the end west wall.

It seems likely that an early phase of the farmstead, then known as Pen-y-lan would have comprised of those elements described above - the whole set along the early top boundary (NPRN: 405952) and providing access to the in-bye and to the out-bye land. The situation would be ideal for batch-handling livestock; presumably the pond was constructed and used partly as a sheepwash and thus it can be suggested that this may have originated as a monastic sheep handling station and associated with the nearby animal house (NPRN: 300571).

The later ‘post-medieval’ development of Troed-y-rhiw Ucha included the approach of the ffridd wall (NPRN: 405565) from the north-east, then the enclosure of area D which is marked on the 1766 and finally the enclosure of the much smaller area E with the final phase of the ffridd wall. 

A detailed survey of this farmstead was carried out by RCAHMW in 2006 as part of a wider study of the Troed-y-rhiw area (NPRN: 405578).
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